NO. 47861-7-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

POPE RESOURCES, LP and OPG PROPERTIES, LLC,

Appellants,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES,

Respondent.

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Nick S. Verwolf, WSBA #4983
David J. Ubaldi, WSBA #30180
Robert E. Miller, WSBA #46507
Davis Wright Tremaine LLP
Attorneys for Pope Resources, LP and
OPG Properties, LLC

777 108th Ave NE, Suite 2300
Bellevue, WA 98004
(425) 646-6100 Phone
(425) 646-6199 Fax

I. INTRODUCTION

Under Washington's Model Toxics Control Act ("MTCA"), the "owner or operator" of a contaminated site is strictly liable for the cleanup. RCW 70.105D.040(1)(a)-(b). The Port Gamble Bay and Mill Site (the "Site") is contaminated with hazardous substances from historic sawmill operations. Defendant Washington State Department of Natural Resources ("DNR") manages and asserts ownership over a large portion of the Site. DNR and its predecessor (collectively, "DNR") exercised control over and maintained an ownership interest in the Site throughout more than a century of sawmill operations, when nearly all of the contamination occurred. DNR had the statutory responsibility to protect the aquatic lands at the Site and the authority to prevent the contamination. It did neither. Instead, DNR collected rent from the now defunct sawmill operator and turned a blind eye to the polluting operations.

The only issue in this appeal is whether DNR is liable at the Site as an "owner or operator" under MTCA. This question turns simply on whether DNR is "a person with any ownership interest in the [Site] or who exercises any control over the [Site]." RCW 70.105D.020(22). DNR will claim it cannot be an "owner or operator" because the State of Washington owns the land "in fee." But MTCA broadly imposes liability on a party with "*any* ownership interest," and this Court's previous application of

MTCA supports that state agencies may not hide behind the State's "fee" ownership.¹ Moreover, DNR's "ownership interest" cannot reasonably be disputed when the agency routinely claims to own and exercises all of the rights of an owner over land at the Site. And regardless of ownership, DNR is also liable as an "owner or operator" because it had the "authority to control the cause of the contamination at the time the hazardous substances were released into the environment."² DNR exercised this authority by directly authorizing the contaminating activity.

Based on the above facts, the Washington State Department of Ecology ("Ecology") concluded that DNR is liable. But the trial court ruled without explanation that DNR is not liable—even though the court was required to give "substantial weight" to Ecology's interpretation of the statute it administers. The trial court erred, and Ecology's long-standing interpretation of MTCA is correct.

A private party with DNR's ownership power and control over the Site would never escape MTCA liability. The plain language of MTCA and this Court's precedent make it unquestionably clear that state agencies must be treated exactly the same as private parties. Without the same incentive of liability, a state agency may pollute or profit from polluting

¹ See *PacifiCorp Envtl. Remediation Co. v. Wash. St. Dep't of Transp.*, 162 Wn. App. 627, 259 P.3d 1115 (2011)

² *Kaiser Aluminum & Chem. Corp. v. Catellus Dev. Corp.*, 976 F.2d 1338, 1341 (9th Cir. 1992)

uses of its land with impunity. The Court should therefore reverse the trial court and hold that DNR is liable under MTCA for its role at the Site.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The Superior Court erred in denying the Appellants' Motion for Summary Judgement and granting summary judgement to DNR on the issue of DNR's liability under MTCA. The Superior Court also erred in denying the Appellants' Motion for Reconsideration.

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUE

The only issue in this appeal is whether DNR is liable as an "owner or operator" under MTCA at the Port Gamble Bay and Mill Site.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

This case pertains to liability for costs of environmental cleanup of a contaminated site under MTCA. The Port Gamble Bay and Mill Site includes a large stretch of Port Gamble Bay, the area of the former Pope & Talbot sawmill, and upland areas to the west and south of the former sawmill. Clerk's Papers (CP) 77. The Site is contaminated from historical sawmill operations, and the sawmill company is now bankrupt.

Ecology's role at contaminated sites is to identify potentially liable parties ("PLPs") and compel them to perform the cleanup. PLP status means Ecology believes it has "credible evidence" to determine that a

party is liable at a site under MTCA. RCW 70.105D.020(26). Under MTCA, owners and operators of a facility are strictly liable for cleanup of the entire site. RCW 70.105D.040(2).

At this Site, Ecology named the following parties as potentially liable as either current or former “owners or operators”: (1) Pope & Talbot (“P&T”), which owned and operated a sawmill at the Site for nearly 150 years; (2) Appellants Pope Resources, LP and OPG Properties, LLC (collectively, “PR/OPG”), which respectively own and manage portions of the upland and tideland areas of the Site; and (3) DNR, which has managed, leased, and retained an ownership interest in the aquatic lands at the Site for more than 100 years.

1. Pope & Talbot

P&T and its predecessors continuously operated a sawmill at Port Gamble from 1853 until 1995. CP 78. Throughout this time, P&T maintained a mill facility adjacent to the Bay and conducted water-dependent operations throughout the Bay. *See* CP 78. These operations included chip loading and log transfer facilities on aquatic lands, burning wood and wood waste, in-water log storage, and placement of creosote-treated pilings. CP 78. Ecology has alleged that these activities resulted in the release of contaminants at the Site, including cadmium, carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (cPAHs), dioxins/furans,

and wood waste that results in toxic breakdown products, including phenols, resin acids, and total and dissolved sulfides. CP 78.

After being named a PLP, P&T filed for bankruptcy in 2007, leaving only PR/OPG and DNR as viable PLPs. *See* CP 18. Under MTCA's joint and several liability scheme, the remaining PLPs are liable for P&T's share of cleanup costs. *See* RCW 70.105D.040(2).

2. Pope Resources and OPG Properties

PR/OPG never operated the sawmill at the Site. *See* CP 77. Pope Resources has been named a liable party because it owns the tidelands of the Bay, the majority of the former mill area, and surrounding upland areas. *See* CP 77. Co-Appellant OPG Properties is a subsidiary of Pope Resources that manages its real estate holdings. CP 77. OPG Properties has never conducted operations at the Site, but has been named as a PLP.

Pope Resources was formed in 1985 when P&T spun off its timberland, real estate, and development branch into a separate independent company. *See* CP 280. As part of the transaction, P&T transferred its real estate holdings, including those at Port Gamble, to Pope Resources. CP 77. In exchange, Pope Resources assumed a \$22.5 million mortgage and paid other consideration. CP 324. Pope Resources then leased the mill area to P&T in an arms-length deal. CP 77; 60.

In the decades following Pope Resources' formation, P&T and Pope Resources operated as separate companies with separate lines of business, and substantially different executives, directors, and shareholders. In the late 1990s, Ecology requested investigations into the environmental condition at the Site, and PR/OPG and P&T strongly disagreed regarding the proper allocation of cleanup obligations under the parties' earlier property transfer agreement. CP 61. After years of contentious negotiations, PR/OPG and P&T resolved their dispute in 2002 by entering into a settlement agreement that terminated the lease. CP 61. When P&T entered bankruptcy, PR/OPG filed a claim as a creditor. CP 328. PR/OPG is not a successor to P&T's liabilities, and no creditor of P&T has ever sought to recover from PR/OPG. CP 328. PR/OPG has been named a liable party at this Site because of its separate roles of owner and manager, not because of any relationship with P&T. *See* CP 77.

3. DNR

DNR has controlled and exercised an ownership interest in the Site for more than 100 years. When Washington became a state in 1889, the State assumed ownership of the aquatic lands within its boundaries. *See* Wash. Const. Art. XVII; *In re Tortorelli*, 149 Wn.2d 82, 90-91, 66 P.3d 606 (2003). Aquatic lands include tidelands and submerged beds (or

“bedlands”). Submerged beds are the area waterward of the line of extreme low tide.

The year after statehood, the legislature created DNR’s predecessor, “The State Land Commission,” granting the agency the “general supervision and control of all public lands now owned by, or the title to which may hereafter vest in, the state, to be registered, leased, and sold.” Laws of 1890, ch. 8, § 2; CP 363. DNR has maintained this control to the present day. DNR’s role with respect to the aquatic lands is currently codified at RCW 79.105.010, which states: “The legislature recognizes that the state owns these aquatic lands in fee and has delegated to the department the responsibility to manage these lands for the benefit of the public.” DNR assumed the role of the state, and DNR’s role includes an obligation to protect these aquatic lands. RCW 79.105.030.

a. DNR Sold Tidelands at the Site to P&T.

Pursuant to its authority, DNR sold tidelands at the Site to P&T in 1893. The sale included the tidelands extending from the uplands to the line of mean low tide. CP 272-79. In 1913, DNR approved the transfer of additional tidelands to P&T, extending to the line of extreme low tide. CP 97. Correspondence from this period between DNR and P&T reveals that DNR knew the tidelands would be sold to a mill company and knew that the mill company owned the adjacent upland areas. CP 99-101.

b. DNR Leased to P&T.

More than eighty years after the tideland sale, DNR required P&T to enter a formal lease for a sewer outfall and for a section of the aquatic lands that P&T had long occupied in the Bay. It is unclear why DNR did not require a lease earlier, and it is also unclear why DNR chose to lease only a small portion of the aquatic lands that P&T used in its operations.

(1) The 1974 Lease

In 1974, DNR first leased to P&T a 53-acre portion of aquatic lands in the Bay approximately one mile south of the mill site (“Lease Area”). CP 103-06; CP 108. The lease allowed “[l]og storage, rafting, and booming,” with annual rent of \$1,855.00 to be paid to DNR. CP 103.

Through the terms of the lease, DNR acted as and retained the primary rights of an owner in the Lease Area. DNR reserved the right to access the Lease Area at “all reasonable times for the purpose of securing compliance” with the lease and reserved the right to grant easements to third parties. CP 104. It also restricted P&T’s ability to construct improvements or sublease without consent. CP 104. In the event that P&T caused damage to the Lease Area, DNR reserved the right to “immediately enter [the Lease Area] and take such action as necessary to cease such damages or use.” CP 106. Moreover, the lease specifically required that P&T would “be responsible for regular cleanup and upland

disposal sufficient to prevent excessive accumulation of any debris on the leased area.” CP 105.

(2) The 1980 Lease

The 1974 lease was in effect until 1979, and in 1980, DNR and P&T executed a second lease with substantially identical terms. CP 111-14. By this time, rent payments had increased to \$6,095.00 per year. CP 111. The use of premises was still limited to a “[b]ooming and log storage area.” CP 111. This lease was in effect until 1989. CP 111.

(3) The 1991 Lease

In 1991, DNR and P&T executed a third lease, which was backdated to 1989 with an expiration date of May, 2001. CP 116-21. The 1991 Lease increased the size of the Lease Area to 72.06 acres. CP 108. The initial rent payment was \$11,748.35, and rent was adjusted annually as the lease progressed. CP 117. As in earlier leases, DNR retained significant authority over the property. *See* CP 119. In deciding to renew and expand the lease, DNR concluded that the “area is highly suitable for this type of use [log storage].” CP 123.

Through the 1991 lease, DNR managed decisions regarding the presence of pollutants and compliance with environmental regulations. *See* CP 119. For instance, the 1991 lease prohibited the “deposit” of “pollutants,” purported to restrict P&T’s use of hazardous substances, and

required compliance with related regulations. CP 119. The 1991 lease further required that P&T would conduct tests or investigations “requested by the state . . . during the term of the lease as are reasonable and necessary to ascertain the existence, scope, or effects of Hazardous Substances on the [Lease Area], adjacent Property, or associated natural resources” CP 120. Nothing indicates that DNR required investigations or otherwise enforced these provisions.

(4) Sewer Outfall Lease

DNR also leased a separate section of aquatic lands to P&T for use as a sewer outfall from 1975 until after P&T ended its operations. *See* CP 126-29. DNR noted that the outfall “discharge[ed] effluent into an existing geoduck clam bed of commercial density,” preventing use of the area for food cultivation. CP 131. DNR required P&T to compensate it for the income lost from reduced geoduck production. CP 131.

c. DNR Knew of Contamination and Unauthorized Activity at the Site.

When the lease was renewed and expanded in 1991, DNR knew of potential contamination and knew that P&T used other areas of the Bay without authorization, but DNR did nothing.

In a June, 1991 internal memorandum, a staff member of DNR asked: “Is there any problem w/ contamination @ this site & the adjacent

to-be-leased areas? Please make sure this issue is dealt w/ next time around if there's any problems (bark can cause bad problems)." CP 134.

In another internal communication in 1991, DNR acknowledged that "[t]he Pope and Talbot Company currently is occupying more area than [lease] # 12795 with log storage and pilings. See photos. We will be addressing the use of these other areas. Requiring P&T to have surveys done and get under lease." CP 124. Photographs from this period show log storage in areas well beyond the original or expanded Lease Area, and DNR acknowledged these unauthorized uses with written annotations on the photographs. CP 136-38.

Nothing indicates that DNR addressed or required a lease for these unauthorized uses. *See* CP 140 ("[W]e do not appear to have commented or expressed any interests in this area in the past."). It was only after P&T closed the mill and requested cancellation of the lease in 1996 when DNR finally required P&T to conduct sampling to evaluate the condition of the sediments, but again, only in the Lease Area. *See* CP 143-46. Ultimately, DNR never terminated the lease, and the lease expired in 2001. CP 148.

d. DNR Claims to be an “Owner” at the Site and at Other Washington Locations.

In both internal correspondence and public presentations, DNR has consistently asserted that it owns the submerged beds at the Site, and it has even acknowledged that its ownership leads to liability. For example:³

- “Fact: **DNR owns** the land underneath the jetty [feature of the former sawmill] as well as a portion of the land where the two southern docks are located.” CP 158.
- “[W]e will need to inform Ecology of **our ownership** and interests at this site immediately” CP 140.
- “DNR would be liable for . . . [an amount reflecting an] ‘ownership’ share” CP 163.⁴
- In a Powerpoint presentation from approximately 2007, DNR identifies “the Players” at the Site, describing itself as “**Landowner.**” CP 169.⁵

4. Cleanup Actions at the Site

PR/OPG have funded and performed a series of remedial actions for the past two decades. CP 61. Over that time, PR/OPG have spent several million dollars investigating and cleaning up the Site. CP 61. In December, 2013, PR/OPG entered a Consent Decree with Ecology. CP 71-79. The Consent Decree requires PR/OPG to implement a Cleanup

³ See CP 9-10 (citing other sections of the record) for many other examples of DNR’s ownership claims at this Site and across the state.

⁴ While allocation of liability is not at issue in this appeal, DNR’s “cost estimate” in this document greatly underestimates its liability by ignoring equitable factors that augment DNR’s liability and by ignoring that, under MTCA’s joint and several liability scheme, DNR shares responsibility for P&T’s “orphaned” share of liability. See CP 163.

⁵ This presentation predated P&T’s bankruptcy, so DNR described P&T as the “PLP” and Pope Resources as a party with only a “Minor Role[.]” CP 169.

Action Plan (“CAP”) in the Bay portion of the Site—nearly all of which belongs to DNR. *See* CP 73, 77. Implementation of the CAP to clean up DNR’s land is expected to cost more than \$20 million. CP 61. The Consent Decree anticipates that future agreements may require additional cleanup of other areas of the Site, which are still being evaluated. CP 73. Even though Ecology determined DNR is a PLP and even though DNR has been present at the Site for almost 100 years more than PR/OPG, DNR refused to participate in the Consent Decree and has refused to meaningfully participate in remedial actions at the Site. *See* CP 61, 77.

B. Procedural History

PR/OPG filed a Complaint against DNR in Kitsap County Superior Court on December 5, 2014, seeking contribution and declaratory judgment. MTCA allows a party to “bring a private right of action, including a claim for contribution or for declaratory relief, against any other person liable under RCW 70.105D.040 for the recovery of remedial action costs.” RCW 70.105D.080. PR/OPG alleged that DNR is liable as a current or former “owner or operator” of the Site under RCW 70.105D.040. CP 8. In its Answer, DNR asserted that it “is not among the categories of persons liable under MTCA, and in particular is not among the persons who fall under the definition of ‘owner or operator’ under RCW 70.105D.020.” CP 21.

PR/OPG moved for summary judgment on the issue of DNR's liability as an "owner or operator" under MTCA. PR/OPG's motion did not seek a determination regarding the extent of DNR's liability or an equitable allocation of liability; PR/OPG instead sought only a declaration on the threshold issue of whether DNR is liable at the Site. DNR's response and countermotion asked the court to deny PR/OPG's motion, to issue an order finding that DNR is not liable, and to dismiss the case.

On June 8, 2015, the trial court granted summary judgment to DNR. The trial court provided no written or oral explanation for its ruling. The order stated simply that "Defendant is not among the categories of persons alleged by plaintiffs [to be] liable under the Model Toxics Control Act (MTCA) at the Port Gamble Bay and Mill Site, and accordingly, Defendant is not an 'owner' or 'operator' as those terms are defined under RCW 70.105D.020."⁶ CP 369. On June 17, 2015, PR/OPG filed a motion asking the court to reconsider its ruling, which the court denied the next day with no explanation. PR/OPG timely appealed.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

This Court reviews orders entered on summary judgment de novo, performing the same inquiry as the trial court. *Smith v. Safeco Ins. Co.*,

⁶ The trial court's only addition to DNR's proposed order was the line "alleged by plaintiffs."

150 Wn.2d 478, 483, 78 P.3d 1274 (2003). The trial court’s legal conclusions are therefore entitled to no deference. Summary judgment is appropriate where there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* at 485. The parties and the trial court judge all agreed that there are no genuine issues of material fact at issue here.

The issue here is statutory interpretation, which is an issue of law reviewed de novo. *Camarata v. Kittitas Cnty.*, 186 Wn. App. 695, 703, 346 P.3d 822 (2015). However, courts must give “substantial weight” to an “agency’s interpretation of the statute it administers.” *Westberry v. Interstate Distrib. Co.*, 164 Wn. App. 196, 207, 263 P.3d 1251 (2001). Here, that agency is Ecology, not DNR.

On cross motions for summary judgment, the Court must “consider all the facts and inferences in the light most favorable” to the non-prevailing party—PR/OPG. *Rizzuti v. Basin Travel Serv. of Othello, Inc.*, 125 Wn. App. 602, 610, 105 P.3d 1012 (2005). Thus, any question regarding whether the facts are sufficient to establish DNR’s liability must be resolved in PR/OPG’s favor.

B. Summary of MTCA Definitions and Applicability

Washington’s MTCA governs liability for cleanup of contaminated sites. MTCA was modeled after the federal Superfund law, the

Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (“CERCLA”). The scope of liability under MTCA is laid out in RCW 70.105D.040, which imposes liability for cleanup on five different categories of persons, including an “owner or operator”:

[T]he following persons are liable with respect to a facility:

- (a) The **owner or operator** of the facility;
- (b) Any person who **owned or operated the facility at the time of disposal or release of the hazardous substances**;

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