COURTOF APPEALS DIVISION II 2015: DEC 28 AM 9:13 STATE OF WASHINGTON BY

NO. 47861-7-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

POPE RESOURCES, LP and OPG PROPERTIES, LLC,

Appellants,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES,

Respondent.

RESPONSE BRIEF OF RESPONDENT WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

EDWARD D. CALLOW Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 30484 P.O. Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504-0100 (360) 664-2854 Attorneys for Washington State Department of Natural Resources

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

MTCA establishes liability based on several categories of "persons." As it relates to this appeal, RCW 70.105D.020(22)(a) defines "owner or operator" in relevant part as "[a]ny *person* with any ownership interest in the facility or who exercises any control over the facility." (Emphasis added.) The first part of this statute provides for liability for owners of a facility, and the latter provides liability for those who are operators.

The trial court properly concluded that DNR is neither an "owner" nor an "operator" at the Port Gamble MTCA Site. Contrary to Pope/OPG's assertions, DNR does not have *any* ownership interest in state-owned aquatic lands. The extent of DNR's authority over such lands is defined by RCW 79.105.010 and other provisions of the aquatic lands statutes, as well as the state constitution. These laws make it clear that it is the State, not DNR, that is the "person" with the ownership interest in the State's aquatic lands at Port Gamble. It is undisputed that the State itself cannot be a "person" for the purposes of liability under MTCA.

It is important for this Court to note that DNR is not requesting a determination of, nor need this Court address, whether a state agency can ever be considered an "owner" under MTCA. The only issue that this Court need decide regarding DNR's status as an "owner" is whether or not DNR, given its explicit statutory authority and MTCA's intent, has any ownership interest in the state-owned aquatic lands at Port Gamble. The trial court was correct that DNR does not have any such ownership interest, and this Court should affirm that decision.

For the purposes of "operator" liability under MTCA, DNR did not "manage, direct, or conduct" Pope and Talbot's polluting activities under the test of *United States v. Bestfoods*, 524 U.S. 51, 118 S. Ct. 1876, 141 L. Ed. 2d 43 (1998), which has been adopted in this state under both *Taliesen Corp. v. Razore Land Co.*, 135 Wn. App. 106, 144 P.3d 1185 (2006), and *Unigard Ins. Co. v. Leven*, 97 Wn. App. 417, 983 P.2d 1155 (1999). Accordingly, the trial court correctly concluded that DNR is not an "operator" at Port Gamble.

In addition to Washington precedent, the weight of the federal authority, both pre- and post- *United States v. Bestfoods*, has consistently determined that a governmental entity must be actively involved in the decisions regarding the polluting operations of a facility, typically on a day-to-day basis, to be liable as an "operator." DNR had no such involvement at Port Gamble.

Pope/OPG's arguments in this appeal ignore the nature of the sovereign interest of the State's ownership of its aquatic lands; ignore binding precedent under MTCA, which requires active participation in the polluting operations at a facility to be an "operator"; and incorrectly rely on this Court's decision in *Pacificorp Envtl. Remediation Co. v. Dep't of Transp.*, 162 Wn. App. 627, 259 P.3d 1115 (2011), which was decided on the basis of an agency's "arranger" liability under MTCA, and specifically declined to address that agency's "owner" and "operator" arguments.

Pope/OPG's erroneous view of MTCA would also subject Washington State taxpayers to an excessive amount of liability, as the State would be responsible for all hazardous waste on the 2.6 million acres of state-owned aquatic lands under DNR's management authority, regardless of any involvement by DNR in a polluter's operations. The trial court properly rejected Pope/OPG's "owner" and "operator" arguments under MTCA, and this Court should affirm that decision.

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate court reviews an order of summary judgment de novo. Western Telepage, Inc. v. City of Tacoma Dep't of Financing, 140 Wn.2d 599, 607, 998 P.2d 884 (2000). Summary judgment is

appropriate only if the pleadings, affidavits, depositions, and admissions on file demonstrate the absence of any genuine issues of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *See* CR 56(c). A material fact is one that affects the outcome of the litigation under governing law, and "when reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion, questions of fact may be determined as a matter of law." *Ruff v. King County*, 125 Wn.2d 697, 703-704, 887 P.2d 886 (1995) (internal citations omitted). Additionally, statutory interpretation is a question of law, which the appellate court reviews de novo. *Western Telepage*, 140 Wn.2d at 607.

This matter comes before this Court on an appeal from crossmotions for summary judgment. There are no genuine issues of material fact in dispute, and this Court can proceed to rule on the parties' legal arguments.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court Properly Determined That DNR Is Not an "Owner" or "Operator" Under RCW 70.105D.020 at the Port Gamble Site.

Washington voters passed MTCA as Initiative 97 in 1988 and modeled it after its federal counterpart, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA).² One of the purposes of MTCA is to ensure that polluters pay the costs for cleaning up hazardous waste sites. *See* 1988 State General Election Voter's Pamphlet at 6-7. This purpose helps ensure that the taxpayers do not bear an undue burden for such cleanups.

Both MTCA and CERCLA establish several categories of liable "persons," and liability under MTCA for such "persons" is explicitly strict, joint, and several. *See* RCW 70.105D.040(2). Relevant to the present matter, both CERCLA and MTCA provide for liability for any "person" who is an "owner" or "operator" of a "facility" where hazardous substances are located. *See* RCW 70.105D.040. *See also* 42 U.S.C. § 9607. However, CERCLA, unlike MTCA, specifically includes a "state" in its definition of "person." *See* 42 U.S.C. § 9601(21). *See also* RCW 70.105D.020(24). As discussed further below, this difference is significant when examining the potential liability of a state agency under MTCA when the State itself is the owner of the facility and the state agency does not have "any ownership interest" in that facility.

² CERCLA is codified beginning at 42 U.S.C. § 9601.

1. DNR Is Not a "Person" With "Any Ownership Interest" in the Aquatic Lands at Port Gamble.

The trial court correctly applied MTCA and concluded that DNR does not have any ownership interest at Port Gamble. MTCA defines "owner or operator" in relevant part as "[a]ny *person* with any ownership interest in the facility or who exercises any control over the facility." RCW 70.105D.020(22)(a) (emphasis added).³ The first part of this definition establishes a person's liability as an "owner" of a facility, and the latter establishes a person's liability as an "operator." As it relates to DNR's ownership liability at Port Gamble, DNR does not have any "ownership interest" in state-owned aquatic lands; it only has management authority over such lands, as defined by the Legislature. The State, not DNR, is the "person" with the ownership interest in the State's aquatic lands at Port Gamble, and the State cannot be a "person" for the purposes of liability under MTCA.

2. MTCA, Unlike CERCLA, Excludes the State From Its Definition of "Person." This Significant Difference Shows a Difference in Statutory Intent.

Before an entity can be an "owner or operator" under MTCA, the entity must first fall under MTCA's definition of "person." Under

 $^{^3}$ A "facility" is further defined as "any site or area where a hazardous substance . . . has been deposited, stored, disposed of, or placed or otherwise come to be located." RCW 70.105D.020(8). The parties do not dispute that the Port Gamble Site meets this definition.

RCW 70.105D.020(24), a "person" is defined as "an individual, firm, corporation, association, partnership, consortium, joint venture, commercial entity, *state government agency*, unit of local government, federal government agency, or Indian Tribe." (Emphasis added.) State government agencies (such as DNR) and units of local government (such as a Port) are specifically included. However, the State itself is noticeably absent from this definition. This is a key distinction when the State itself has the ownership interests in the facility.

MTCA's definition of "person" differs from that of CERCLA. Under CERCLA, a "person" is "an individual, firm, corporation, association, partnership, consortium, joint venture, commercial entity, United States Government, *State*, municipality, commission, political subdivision of a State, or any interstate body." 42 U.S.C. § 9601(21) (emphasis added). Unlike MTCA, CERCLA's definition explicitly includes the word "State." This is a significant difference, which shows a deliberate intent of MTCA's drafters to deviate from CERCLA in this regard. Since MTCA was heavily patterned on CERCLA, as well as CERCLA's subsequent reenactment under the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986, when MTCA uses different language, courts take note and consider the variance a clear indication of statutory

intent. Bird-Johnson Corp. v. Dana Corp., 119 Wn.2d 423, 427-28, 833 P.2d 375 (1992).

The Legislature knows how to include the State within the definition of the term "person" and has expressly done so numerous times. See, e.g., RCW 70.38.025(10) (definition of "Person" includes "the state, instrumentality of the state"); political subdivision or or а RCW 79.105.060(13) (definition of "Person" includes "the state or any agency or political subdivision thereof"); RCW 81.88.010(11) (definition of "Person" includes "a state, a city, a town, a county, or any political subdivision or instrumentality of a state"). When the Legislature omits certain language from a statute, it should be inferred that the omission was purposeful. See State v. Jackson, 137 Wn.2d 712, 723, 976 P.2d 1229 (1999). The Legislature has had ample opportunities since 1989 to amend MTCA's definition of "person" to include the "state." It has not done so.

In this case, MTCA's exclusion of the "state" from its definition of "person" is plain and unambiguous and evidences a clear intent to limit the taxpayers' liability for hazardous waste sites when the State itself is the "owner" of a facility. Applying the general rules of statutory construction demonstrates that omitting the State from MTCA's definition of person was deliberate. Once enacted, initiatives are interpreted according to the same rules of statutory construction that apply to legislative enactments.

McGowan v. State, 148 Wn.2d 278, 288, 60 P.3d 67 (2002). If the words of the measure are plain and unambiguous, then the language controls. *Id.* Moreover, a definition provided in an enactment controls, and a court must use this definition to apply the statute. *North Pac. Coast Freight Bureau v. State*, 12 Wn.2d 563, 571, 122 P.2d 467 (1942). Accordingly, this unambiguous definition must guide the Court's analysis in evaluating DNR's potential liability as an "owner" or "operator" under MTCA.

3. DNR's Role as a Land Manager Is Based in the Constitution and Defined by the Legislature. It Does Not Have "Any Ownership Interest" in the Aquatic Lands at Port Gamble.

The State's ownership of its aquatic lands is a fundamental sovereign interest and, in that regard, is distinctly different from the facts of the "ownership" cases relied upon by Pope/OPG. *See* Br. of Appellant at 24-26. Upon entry into the Union, the State of Washington obtained title to the beds of its navigable waters under the Equal Footing Doctrine.⁴ The states, upon entry into the Union, "became themselves sovereign; and in that character hold the absolute right to all their navigable waters and the soils under them for their own common use, subject only to the rights since surrendered by the Constitution to the general government."

⁴ The Equal Footing Doctrine means that "States entering the Union after 1789 did so on an 'equal footing' with the original States and so have similar ownership over these 'sovereign lands." *Coeur d'Alene Tribe*, 521 U.S. at 283 (quoting *Lessee of Pollard v. Hagan*, 44 U.S. 212, 228-29, 3 How. 212, 11 L. Ed. 565 (1845)).

Idaho v. Coeur d'Alene Tribe, 521 U.S. 261, 283, 117 S. Ct. 2028, 138 L. Ed. 2d 438 (1997) (quoting *Martin v. Waddell's Lessee*, 41 U.S. 367, 16 Pet. 367, 10 L. Ed. 997 (1842)). The State's ownership right is declared in the state constitution, wherein Washington "asserts its ownership to the beds and shores of all navigable waters in the state up to and including the line of ordinary high tide, in the waters where the tide ebbs and flows, and up to and including the line of ordinary high water within the banks of all navigable rivers and lakes." Const. art. XVII, § 1.

Pope/OPG assert that DNR is an "owner" at Port Gamble because DNR allegedly possesses a "bundle of rights" at Port Gamble that amounts to "any ownership interest." Br. of Appellant at 24-26. However, DNR, as a creature of statute, "has only those powers either expressly granted or necessarily implied by the legislature." *Skagit Surveyors & Eng'rs, LLC v. Friends of Skagit Cnty.*, 135 Wn.2d 542, 558, 958 P.2d 962 (1998). Accordingly, it "may exercise only those powers conferred by statute, and cannot authorize action in absence of statutory authority." *Northlake Marine Works, Inc. v. DNR*, 134 Wn. App. 272, 282, 138 P.3d 626 (2006).

Here, the Legislature has granted DNR "authority to *manage* state aquatic lands. . . ." *Id.* at 287 (emphasis added). Indeed, the State of Washington, and not DNR, "claims absolute fee simple ownership of the

land underlying its waters." *Id.* at 278 (citing *Draper Machine Works, Inc.* v. DNR, 117 Wn.2d 306, 313, 815 P.2d 770 (1991)). *See also Caminiti v. Boyle*, 107 Wn.2d 662, 668 732 P.2d 989 (1987) ("[a]s owner, *the state* holds *full proprietary rights* in tidelands and shorelands and has fee simple title to such lands.") (emphasis added).

Contrary to Pope/OPG's assertions, DNR does not have *any* ownership interest in state-owned aquatic lands; it is merely a land manager as authorized by the Legislature and can only carry out those functions directed by the Legislature. Under RCW 79.105.010, the Legislature "recognizes that the state owns these aquatic lands in fee and has *delegated to the department the responsibility to manage these lands for the benefit of the public.*" (Emphasis added.) Under RCW 79.105.010, the Legislature only granted to DNR land management authority over state-owned aquatic lands; it did not grant any ownership interest in these lands to DNR.

DNR's management role over state-owned aquatic lands is further emphasized throughout the aquatic lands statutes. For example, under RCW 79.105.060(20), "State-owned aquatic lands" is defined as "tidelands, shorelands, harbor areas, the beds of navigable waters, and waterways *owned by the state and administered by the department* . . . [and] does not include aquatic lands owned in fee by, or withdrawn for the

use of, state agencies other than the department." (Emphasis added.) Moreover, under RCW 79.105.020, the directives established by the Legislature throughout the aquatic lands statutes, "articulate a management philosophy to guide the exercise of the *state's ownership interest and the exercise of the department's management authority* . . ." Based on this unambiguous statutory language, DNR does not have any ownership interest in the State's aquatic lands; it only manages them.⁵

4. DNR Never Had the Authority to Sell Port Gamble Tidelands at Will, as DNR's Authority Over the State's Aquatic Lands Is Specifically Prescribed by the Legislature.

While Pope/OPG argue that DNR could dispose of the tidelands at Port Gamble at "will," this was never the case. Br. of Appellant at 25. DNR's authority at Port Gamble was, and is, specifically prescribed by the Legislature. For example, in 1889, and again in 1891 and 1911, the Legislature directed that the Commissioner of Public Lands "shall" sell tidelands owned by the State when certain conditions were met by an applicant. *See* Laws of 1889-90, § 8, 433-37; Laws of 1891, ch. CLVIII, § 1, 403-04; and Laws of 1911, ch. 36, §§ 1-2. CP at 249-59. When those tidelands were sold, the deeds were clear that it was the "State of

⁵ Because the State owns the aquatic lands in question, and because the State itself is specifically excluded from MTCA's definition of "person," any CERCLA cases interpreting ownership liability are of limited applicability under MTCA when the State is the owner of the "facility."

Washington" making the transfer, and it was not the Commissioner of Public Lands signing the deeds, it was the governor. CP at 272-79. CP at 97. The mandatory directive to sell the State's tidelands was not removed by the Legislature until 1971. *See* Laws of 1971, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 217, §§ 1-2. CP at 260-62.

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